EMPOWERING A NEW ERA IN MINING

ANNUAL REPORT 2018

WHO WE ARE
Zambezi is a special purpose black economic
empowerment (BEE) vehicle established in 2014 as a
result of a R6.6 billion transaction (BEE transaction)
with Northam. The transaction included the successful
raising of R4.6 billion and was approved by Northam
shareholders in March 2015.

Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s
(Zambezi or Zambezi Platinum or
the company or the group) strategic
stake in Northam Platinum Limited
(Northam) provides a solid foundation
to fuel new mining opportunities for
Northam, and to expand the business
into a significant, long-life integrated
platinum group metals (PGMs)
producer, delivering benefits for all its
stakeholders for many years to come.

In terms of the transaction, Northam issued 112 195
122 new shares, (equivalent to 22.0% of Northam’s
issued share capital) to Zambezi. These shares were
supplemented with 47 710 331 Northam shares
(equivalent to 9.4% of Northam’s issued share capital),
sold to Zambezi by the Public Investment Corporation
(SOC)

Limited

(PIC), a

long-standing

Northam

shareholder.
Zambezi comprises a range of historically disadvantaged
South African (HDSA) stakeholders including an
employee trust, two community trusts, a women’s group
and a core of strategic partners. Together they hold a
31.4% stake in Northam.
Zambezi financed the acquisition of shares in Northam
through a preference share scheme. Apart from this

Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number 2014/106927/06
JSE preference share code: ZPLP
ISIN code: ZAE000202552

function, Zambezi will not conduct any operational
business. Zambezi’s preference shares were listed on the
JSE Limited (JSE) in May 2015.
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KEY FEATURES
There is no risk of the
shareholding in Northam
being sold or compromised
for a 10-year period.
Zambezi’s ring-fencing
will protect Northam’s
BEE credentials.
We remain confident of the
long-term fundamentals
of platinum.
Our board members contribute
a valuable range of business
and technical skills.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

“From our perspective
at Zambezi we continue
to be pleased with the
Northam approach to
its business.”

Our colleagues at Northam Platinum have had
to endure a flat metal price environment and a
relatively strong South African currency for most
of the year under review. More recently, in the
last quarter, the ZAR has weakened significantly,
and an increasing amount of volatility has
become a feature of the exchange rate of the
ZAR against the major global currencies. My
colleague Paul Dunne at Northam has provided
more extensive comment on the metal price
environment and the impact it has had on the
business in the Northam annual integrated
report.
2

From our perspective at Zambezi we continue to be
pleased with the Northam approach to its business. The
company’s strategy, based on geographic diversification,
mining shallower, mechanisable orebodies, lowering risk
and costs, has proven to be a good one. The brownfields
expansion into Booysendal South has made significant
advances, while management has been both innovative
and entrepreneurial in exploiting some of the surface
infrastructure at the Eland mine to process material
from Jubilee Metals, and using the Kukama shaft for
trial underground mining. Significantly, Northam
management continues to keep a watchful eye on its
balance sheet and its cash flow.

Chairman’s statement continued

Apart from the sustained low metal price environment,

Northam Platinum, has already made good progress in

the past year in South Africa was characterised by political

many areas of the new Charter’s targets.

change and with new leadership in the African National
Congress (ANC) and in the nation’s presidency. We
welcome the new leadership’s commitment to root out
corruption and to stimulate investment in South African
business and the economy and look forward to the rollout of further concrete measures to promote economic
activity. Developments of this nature are critical in South

A particular area of focus during F2018 has been the
establishment of community trusts in proximity to the
group’s operations. Both Zondereinde and Booysendal’s
trusts are up and running: trustees have been appointed
and funds have already been invested in bursaries and
learnerships.

Africa today, especially with unemployment levels which

To conclude, I wish to thank my fellow directors at

are higher than ever before.

Zambezi for their confidence and support in my first

At Zambezi we believe the appointment of Mr

year as chairman of the board. And to our colleagues at
Northam, on behalf of the Zambezi board, we wish to

Gwede Mantashe to the mines’ ministry is a positive

convey our appreciation for your continued efforts and

development. His association with this sector is

hard work. Thank you.

longstanding, and he has a sound understanding of the
issues facing the industry and its survival. The new Mining
Charter, which was published for comment on 15 June
2018, is an improvement on the previously proposed
version. Zambezi’s investment vehicle in the PGM sector,
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors have pleasure in submitting their report for the year ended 30 June 2018.
History and the nature of the business
Zambezi was incorporated as a private company on 2 June 2014, as a special purpose vehicle to facilitate the Northam
BEE transaction as detailed in the Northam transactional circular dated 17 February 2015 (transactional circular),
the Zambezi prospectus to Northam shareholders dated 21 April 2015 (prospectus) and the Northam offer circular
dated 21 April 2015 (offer circular) (collectively the circulars). These circulars are available on the company’s website
www.northam.co.za/zambezi/.
On 16 February 2015, the company converted to a public company, changed its name to Zambezi Platinum (RF)
Limited and became a ring-fenced company in terms of the Companies Act, No.71 of 2008, as amended from time to
time (Companies Act) with restrictions in terms of its conduct of business activities. On 11 May 2015, Zambezi listed
on the main board of the JSE in terms of the JSE debt listings requirements, with the preference share code ZPLP, to
facilitate the Northam BEE transaction. Prior to the company’s conversion to a public company and listing on the JSE,
Zambezi did not conduct any business operations or activities.
On the implementation date of the Northam BEE transaction described in the offer circular and prospectus
(18 May 2015), Zambezi allotted and issued 159 905 453 Zambezi preference shares to offer participants, 10 000
Zambezi ordinary shares to historically disadvantaged South African (HDSA) participants and 1 N share to Northam.
The Zambezi ordinary shares and the N share are not listed on the JSE. Further details of the shareholders can be found
in this annual report.
As part of the Northam BEE transaction, the company received 112 195 122 Northam shares and acquired a further
47 710 331 Northam shares from the PIC, totaling 159 905 453 Northam shares (BEE shares). The company has
undertaken not to dispose of or encumber the BEE shares for the duration of the 10-year lock-in period, other than in
accordance with the preference share terms and the Zambezi pledge and cession.
The Northam shares held by Zambezi represent a 31.4% HDSA holding in Northam’s issued share capital.

Corporate governance
The Zambezi board of directors (the board) is committed to the principles of fairness, accountability, responsibility and
transparency as advocated in the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016 (King IV), as well as
other applicable legislation.
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Directors’ report continued

Northam are the appointed secretaries, technical and administrative advisors of Zambezi, attending to the day-to-day
management and business affairs of the company. The majority of the King IV recommendations are not applicable to
Zambezi due to, inter alia, the company:

• having no employees;
•	having no independent directors, as each director represents a shareholder;
• having no subsidiary companies;
• having no operational mines;
• having restricted trading activities;
• being ring-fenced in terms of the Companies Act; and
•	being a special purpose vehicle for the Northam BEE transaction.
The board is therefore satisfied that, where relevant, there is adequate compliance with King IV. The corporate
governance principles adopted by Northam are available on the Northam website: www.northam.co.za/governance/
policies-and-procedures

Board of directors
At 30 June 2018, the board comprised 8 (eight) (2017: 7 (seven)) directors, all of whom are non-executive directors and
25% are women (2017: 14.3% were women).

Changes to the board
Mr KB Mosehla was appointed as chairman of the board following Mr PL Zim’s retirement at the annual general meeting
(AGM) held on 7 November 2017. On 14 February 2018 Mr Mosehla resigned as a member and chairman of the audit
committee, as recommended in terms of King IV. Mr GS Mseleku replaced him as chairman of the committee on the
same date.
Advocate ME Motseki-Zim was appointed as a non-executive director on 7 November 2017 at the AGM. She represents
Atisa Platinum (RF) Proprietary Limited on the board, in terms of clause 25.9 of the company’s memorandum of
incorporation (MOI). Advocate Motseki-Zim replaced Mr Zim as a director following his retirement.
Mr BB Nene was appointed as a non-executive director on 4 May 2018 at the general meeting of ordinary shareholders
held on the same date. He represents the Northam Zondereinde Community Trust on the board, in terms of clause
25.9 of the company’s MOI. Mr Nene also replaced Mr Mosehla as a member of the audit committee on 4 May 2018.

ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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CONTINUED

Board members
2018

2017

% held in the
ordinary share
capital of the
company

% held in the
ordinary share
capital of the
company

12.8

12.8

Name of director

Representation

Mr KB Mosehla

Malundi Resources (RF) Proprietary
Limited

Mr PA Dunne

Provides a protective Provides a protective
Northam Platinum Limited (1 N share)
right to Northam
right to Northam

Mr AZ Khumalo

The Northam Employees’ Trust

9.6

9.6

Ms N Mazwai

Zambezi Platinum Women’s SPV (RF)
Proprietary Limited

19.1

19.1

Advocate ME Motseki-Zim*
(previously Mr PL Zim)

Atisa Platinum (RF) Proprietary
Limited*

12.8

12.8

Mr GS Mseleku

Mpilo Platinum (RF) Proprietary Limited

29.8

29.8

The Northam Zondereinde Community
Trust

7.95

7.95

The Northam Booysendal
Community Trust

7.95

7.95

100.0

100.0

Mr BB Nene (previously
Mr LC van Schalkwyk)**
Mr LC van Schalkwyk

*	Advocate Motseki-Zim has replaced Mr Zim as the representative for Atisa Platinum (RF) Proprietary Limited. Atisa Platinum (RF)
Proprietary Limited also has an indirect interest of 16.67% in Mpilo Platinum (RF) Proprietary Limited via the Zim Group Proprietary
Limited
** Mr Nene has replaced Mr van Schalkwyk as the representative for the Northam Zondereinde Community Trust

Board committee members
Audit committee

Social and ethics committee

GS Mseleku – chairman*

GS Mseleku – chairman

KB Mosehla – chairman*

LC van Schalkwyk

N Mazwai

CA Smith***

BB Nene**
*	Mr Mseleku was appointed chairman of the audit committee following Mr Mosehla’s resignation on 14 February 2018
** Mr Nene was appointed on 4 May 2018
*** Mr Smith is Northam’s executive: human resources
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Directors’ report continued

Re-election of directors
In terms of clause 25.22 of the MOI, at each AGM of the company 1/3 (one third) of the directors who have been
longest in office since their last election must retire. Messrs AZ Khumalo, Ms N Mazwai and Mr KB Mosehla in
accordance with the provisions of the MOI, retire from office and, being eligible and available, have offered themselves
for re-election and appointment. Accordingly at the forthcoming AGM to be held on Tuesday, 6 November 2018,
at 09:30, members will be requested to consider resolutions providing for the election and re-appointment of the
aforementioned directors of the company.
Brief summaries of their curricula vitae are set out on pages 14 to 15 of this report.

Disclosure of interests and directors’ dealings in shares
Disclosure of personal financial interests is a standing board and committee agenda item. In terms of directors’ dealings
in shares, all board members are required to obtain prior approval from the chairperson, or in his absence, Northam as
secretaries and technical and administrative advisers to the company (secretaries), for dealings in Zambezi preference
shares and/or Northam ordinary shares, either directly or indirectly. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld
but will not be granted during any embargo or closed period in terms of the JSE listings requirements.

Board charter and board committee terms of reference
The board charter articulates the objectives and responsibilities of the board. Each of the board committees operates in
accordance with written terms of reference, which are approved by the board. The board charter, the audit committee’s
terms of reference and the social and ethics committee’s terms of reference are available on the Zambezi website at
www.northam.co.za/zambezi

Board and committee meetings
Meetings of the board are held at such time and at such venue as the board deems appropriate, but will normally take
place at least once a year or at the call of the chairperson of the board.
The meetings of the audit committee shall be held at least twice a year and the social and ethics committee shall meet
as and when required.

ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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Attendance at board meetings
Director

14 February 2018

KB Mosehla – chairman*

√

PA Dunne

√

AZ Khumalo

√

N Mazwai (Ms)

Apology

ME Motseki-Zim

√

GS Mseleku

√

BB Nene**

N/A

LC van Schalkwyk

√

* 	Mr Mosehla was appointed as chairman on 7 November 2017, following Mr Zim’s retirement
** 	Mr Nene was appointed as a non-executive director on 4 May 2018

Key
√ Attended

Attendance at the audit committee
Member

18 September 2017

14 February 2018

GS Mseleku – chairman*

√

√

KB Mosehla – chairman*

Apology

√

N Mazwai

√

Apology

BB Nene**

N/A

N/A

*	Mr Mosehla resigned as chairman and member at the conclusion of the meeting held on 14 February 2018 and Mr Mseleku was
appointed as chairman on 14 February 2018
**	Mr Nene was appointed as a member of the audit committee on 4 May 2018

Key
√ Attended

Attendance at the social and ethics committee
Member
GS Mseleku – chairman

Apology

LC van Schalkwyk

√

CA Smith

√

Key
√ Attended
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Directors’ report continued

Social and ethics committee
The social and ethics committee has 3 (three) members, Messrs. GS Mseleku who is the chairman, LC van Schalkwyk
and CA Smith.
The social and ethics committee meets at least once a year and reports to the board on the committee’s activities at
the board meetings following each social and ethics committee meeting.
The social and ethics committee’s key focus areas during the year were to review the trusts, as follows:
Progress has been made with the Northam Booysendal Community Trust and the Northam Zondereinde Community
Trust to regulate the disbursements which will be paid to the communities in the future. The community trusts have
already benefitted in their share of the lock-in fee paid in May 2015, and like all other shareholders, will benefit further
financially when Northam resumes dividend payments. Northam has not paid dividends in recent years owing to weak
PGM prices and its large capital expansion programme.

Northam Booysendal Community Trust
The Booysendal Community Trust held four meetings and an AGM during this financial year. At the AGM the following
information was presented:

•	Trustees were introduced. Their roles, responsibilities, meeting intervals and interaction with communities were
explained.

•	Trust

mandate and identified community priorities like health clinic, learnerships, cadets, bursaries, school
infrastructure and portable water were discussed and approved. There is an agreement that infrastructure upgrade
projects that fall within the trust mandate should be executed in partnership with provincial government.

The Northam project management unit has started with feasibility studies and discussions on collaboration with
government departments on project implementation. Six students have already been identified from the community
and awarded tertiary education bursaries for this calendar year. The processes and systems are in place to identify
community members that will be trained as cadets and on learnership.

Northam Zondereinde Community Trust
The Zondereinde Community Trust successfully elected their trustees and the trust is currently operational as all
trustees, including independent and Northam trustees, were registered with the Master of the High Court. The trust
has held three meetings to orientate members of the Community Trust. The training and orientation was conducted
by an independent organisation. Community projects were identified and discussed once trustees understood the
mandate of the trust. The trustees have already visited community villages to get an understanding of the environment
and areas that will benefit from the trust’s activities.
The memorandum of understanding with the North West department of education was drafted after the meeting
of the two parties and should be signed soon depending on the political stability of the province. The Northam
project manager has been tasked to do some ground work on all the projects that can be executed jointly with other
stakeholders including the neighbouring mines.
ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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The trust is in a process of costing the identified projects and does prioritisation based on available funds. There is
a wider engagement with the community regarding the awarding of bursaries, learnerships and cadets’ recruitment
based on agreed criteria.

Employees’ Trust
Discussions continue with the National Union of Mine workers (NUM) to implement the Employees’ Trust.

Stated capital
There have been no changes in the stated capital or ownership thereof during the year under review.
The authorised stated capital remains as 11 000 ordinary shares at no par value, 1 N share and 159 905 453
preference shares. The issued stated capital remains at 10 000 ordinary shares at an issue price of R0.01 per
ordinary share, 1 N share at an issue price of R0.01 per share and 159 905 453 preference shares at an issue price of
R41.00 per share.

Shareholders
Below is a list of the ordinary shareholders of Zambezi, which were unchanged from the prior year:
Number of
Zambezi Platinum
(RF) Limited
ordinary shares

% of
Zambezi
Platinum (RF)
Limited

% of
Northam
Platinum Limited

Atisa Platinum (RF) Proprietary Limited*

1 280

12.80

4.0

Malundi Resources (RF) Proprietary Limited*

1 280

12.80

4.0

Mpilo Platinum (RF) Proprietary Limited*

2 980

29.80

9.4

Zambezi Platinum Women’s SPV (RF)
Proprietary Limited**

1 910

19.10

6.0

The Northam Employees’ Trust

960

9.60

3.0

The Northam Booysendal Community Trust

795

7.95

2.5

Name of ordinary shareholder

The Northam Zondereinde Community Trust

* Shareholders defined as the Strategic Partners
** Shareholder defined as the Women’s Consortium
All shareholders are HDSA participants

10

795

7.95

2.5

10 000

100.00

31.4

Zambezi issued the N share to Northam, the purpose of which is to allow Northam to take certain mitigating action
in the event of the occurrence of an early redemption event under the preference share terms and/or the unwinding of
the transaction prior to the expiry of the lock-in period.
The N share shall rank ahead of the distribution rights of the holders of the Zambezi ordinary shares and shall be
equal to the amount of the lock-in and restraint payments plus interest accrued thereon from the date on which the
lock-in and restraint payment was made until the date of payment of the N share distribution, at the dividend rate
compounded annually.
Other than as required in terms of the Companies Act, the N share will not entitle Northam to any voting rights.
Name of N shareholder

Number of N share

%

1

100.0

Northam Platinum Limited

At 30 June 2018, the following directors (together with their associates) have a beneficial interest in the company in
accordance with the table below:
2018

2017

Effective interest in Effective interest in
Zambezi ordinary
Zambezi ordinary
shares (%)
shares (%)

Name of director

Consortia in which the director
has an interest

KB Mosehla

Malundi Resources (RF) Proprietary Limited

3.2

3.2

N Mazwai

Zambezi Platinum Women’s SPV (RF)
Proprietary Limited

6.6

6.6

ME Motseki-Zim *
(previously PL Zim)

Atisa Platinum (RF) Proprietary Limited and
Mpilo Platinum (RF) Proprietary Limited

11.0

11.0

GS Mseleku

Mpilo Platinum (RF) Proprietary Limited

9.8

9.8

30.6

30.6

* Mr Zim retired as a director and Adv Motseki-Zim replaced him on 7 November 2017

In terms of the subscription agreement, the shareholders have undertaken not to dispose of or encumber their shares
for the duration of the lock-in period, being 10 years from May 2015. The Zambezi preference shares were listed on the
JSE on 11 May 2015 and allotted and issued to shareholders in terms of the offer circular on 18 May 2015.

ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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CONTINUED

Number of Zambezi Platinum preference shares

%

159 905 453

100.0

The following directors hold Zambezi preference shares, which were acquired on the open market:
Name of director
KB Mosehla
AZ Khumalo
LC van Schalkwyk

2018

2017

17 200

–

500

500

164 421

52 374

There have been no changes in these holdings from 30 June 2018, to the date of this report.

Lock-in and restraint payment
In terms of the Northam BEE transaction, Zambezi has undertaken not to dispose of or encumber the BEE shares for
the duration of the 10-year lock-in period, other than in accordance with the preference share terms and the Zambezi
pledge and cession agreement. In terms of the relationship agreements, the ordinary shareholders referred to as the
HDSA participants have, in turn, undertaken not to dispose of or encumber their Zambezi ordinary shares for the
duration of the lock-in period. Furthermore, Zambezi has, pursuant to the subscription agreement, and the HDSA
participants have, pursuant to their respective relationship agreements, undertaken in favour of Northam not to be
engaged, directly or indirectly, or in any way to be interested, in any platinum group metal (PGM) exploration, PGM
prospecting or PGM mining activities or in any competitor of the Northam group for the duration of the lock-in period,
save to the extent specifically permitted under such relationship agreements.
As consideration for entering into the lock-in arrangement, and in recognition of the benefit that Northam and the
Northam shareholders will derive from the lock-in arrangement, a lock-in and restraint payment was made to Zambezi,
being a once-off gross amount of R400.0 million.

12

Zambezi then distributed the lock-in and restraint payment, net of taxes, to its ordinary shareholders (HDSA
participants), as a dividend. Each of the HDSA participants have, in turn, utilised their portion of the lock-in and
restraint payment (lock-in funds) as follows:

•	each of the Strategic Partners and the Women’s Consortium have distributed their portion of the lock-in funds as a
dividend to their shareholders;

•	the Northam Employees’Trust will invest its portion of the lock-in funds in permanent capital goods and infrastructure
or education or healthcare projects for the benefit of its beneficiaries, as approved by Northam; and

•	each of the Northam Zondereinde Community Trust and the Northam Booysendal Community Trust are investing
their portion of the lock-in funds in community development activities for the benefit of their beneficiary
communities as approved by Northam.

Financial results
Full details of the financial results of the company are set out in the financial statements.
The statement of financial position, statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of cash
flows and statement of changes in equity and accompanying notes reflect the results for the year ended 30 June 2018
and the financial position at that date.

Events after the reporting date
There have been no facts or circumstances of a material nature that have occurred between the reporting date and the
date of this annual report, that require adjustment to the financial results or the disclosure.

ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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1

3

2

4

KB Mosehla (46)
CA (SA)

CA (SA)

AZ Khumalo (53)

Non-executive chairman

Non-executive director

Joined the board in May 2015
Mr Mosehla is the non-executive chairman of Northam
and is the chief executive officer of Mosomo Investment
Holdings Proprietary Limited. He is also a director of
Malundi Resources (RF) Proprietary Limited and MC
Mining Limited. In March 2017 he was appointed as
chairman of Tembisa Provincial Tertiary Hospital.

Joined the board in March 2015

PA Dunne (55) (British)
BSc (Hons); MBA

N Mazwai (59)

Non-executive director

Non-executive director

Joined the board in October 2014
Mr Dunne is the chief executive officer of Northam.
Prior to joining Northam he was employed by Impala
Platinum Holdings Limited (Implats) as an executive
director responsible for all mining, concentrating
and smelting operations at Implats’ Rustenburg and
Marula mines.

Joined the board in May 2015

Mr Khumalo is the chief financial officer of Northam. He
has extensive mining and corporate finance experience.
From September 2008 he was the group finance
executive of Coal of Africa Limited. Prior to that, from
2004 to 2008, he was director of finance of Aquarius
Platinum (South Africa) Proprietary Limited.

BA (Hons) Journalism

Ms Mazwai is the founder and festival director of the
BuyelEkhaya Pan African Cultural Festival. She has
more than 20 years’ experience in senior management,
consultancy and programme management roles.
Member of the audit committee
ME Motseki-Zim (55)
B Proc; LLB; diplomas in general nursing and midwifery
Non-executive director
Joined the board in November 2017
Advocate Motseki-Zim is a director of Atisa Group

1

KB Mosehla

2

PA Dunne

3

AZ Khumalo

4

N Mazwai

14

Proprietary Limited, Zim Holdings Proprietary Limited
and chairperson of Women Be Adorned, a women’s
development non-profit organisation.

Board of directors continued

5

7

6

8

9

GS Mseleku (52)

acquisition activities in the mining industry. After a tenure

BA (Hons); LLB; LLM (Tax Law); H Dip Co Law; Attorney of

at BoE Merchant Bank, he moved to Shanduka Resources

the High Court of South Africa

Proprietary Limited where he was part of the mining

Non-executive director

and marketing team. He was instrumental in turning
around and growing Shanduka’s coal mining investments

Joined the board in May 2015
Mr Mseleku is the executive chairman of Sakhumnotho
Group Holdings, and of the Oakhurst Insurance Company.
He serves on the board of Sulzer Pumps SA Proprietary

and was actively involved in the management of the
underlying investments.
Member of the audit committee

Limited, among other companies. He is founder and

L C van Schalkwyk (54)

immediate past president of the Pan African Chamber of

Chartered management accountant (FCMA)

Commerce and Industry.

Non-executive director

Chairman of the audit committee and the social and
ethics committee

Joined the board in October 2014
Mr van Schalkwyk is Northam’s chief commercial officer.
He previously held the position of company executive

BB Nene (45)

strategic finance at Implats, having risen through the

CA (SA)

ranks at that company.

Non-executive director

Member of the social and ethics committee

Joined the board in May 2018
Mr Nene has extensive experience in investment

CA Smith (43)

banking, advising on a number of significant merger and

BSocSc (Hons)
Mr Smith is not a director of the company but a
member of the social and ethics committee and is
the executive: human resources for Northam. He has
extensive experience in the mining sector and has held
senior human resources positions at AngloGold Ashanti

5

ME Motseki-Zim

6

GS Mseleku

Limited, Richards Bay Coal Terminal Proprietary Limited

7

LC van Schalkwyk

8

BB Nene

and Implats.

9

CA Smith

ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are required by the Companies Act, to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for
the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information included in this annual
report. It is their responsibility to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the
company as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended,
in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The external auditors are engaged to express an
independent opinion on the annual financial statements.
The annual financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS and are based upon appropriate accounting
policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.
The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the systems of internal financial control established
by the company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the
directors to meet these responsibilities, the board of directors sets standards of internal controls aimed at reducing
the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities
within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure
an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the company and the directors are required
to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the company is on identifying, assessing,
managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated,
the company endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure controls, systems and ethical
behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and constraints.
The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by Northam, as administrators and
secretaries, that the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied
on for the preparation of the annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide
only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
Northam has guaranteed that they will enable the company to settle any preference shares, dividends and repurchases
as required by the BEE transaction, as well as any other expenses incurred by the company.
The audit committee has confirmed to the directors of the company that the audit committee functions in terms of
the Companies Act, have been performed without any exceptions noted in relation to the financial statements and that
they are satisfied that the auditors were independent of the company.
The auditors are responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on the company’s annual financial statements.
The annual financial statements have been examined by the company’s external auditors and an unqualified audit
opinion has been issued.
The financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 set out on pages 28 to 63 have been approved by the board
of directors.
KB Mosehla
Chairman
30 August 2018
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PA Dunne
GS Mseleku
Director	Chairman – audit committee

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The audit committee is pleased to present its report for the financial year ended 30 June 2018.
The establishment of an audit committee is a statutory requirement. The role of the committee is an independent
one with accountability to the board and to shareholders. It is also an overseer and makes recommendations to the
board for final approval. The committee cannot assume the function of management which remains the responsibility
of Northam Platinum Limited, as Northam Platinum Limited attends to the day-to-day management of Zambezi
Platinum (RF) Limited’s business, in accordance with the Administration Services Agreement of the Northam BEE
transaction.
The audit committee has discharged its responsibilities mandated by the board, which also allows it to execute its
statutory duties in compliance with the Companies Act. The committee’s terms of reference, which can be found on
the company’s website www.northam.co.za/zambezi/ are aligned with the above legislation, regulations and principles.
Below is a summary of the role and associated responsibilities of the audit committee:

•	Ascertain all factors and risks that would impact on the accuracy of the annual report. This includes factors that
may predispose management to present misleading information, poor significant judgment, reporting and decisions,
failure at enforcement, monitoring by regulatory bodies, forecast of financial information and question information
that brings into doubt previously published information

•	Review and comment on annual financial statements, preliminary results announcements, interim reports, dividends
and other price sensitive information, such as trading statements or prospectuses

•	Ensure that financial statements are prepared in terms of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
other appropriate standards

•	Consider whether external auditors should perform assurance procedures or other non-audit services
•	Review significant findings and other matters arising through to completion of the annual financial statements
•	Recommend the annual financial statements for approval by the board
•	Nominate the independent external auditor for appointment and approval by shareholders
•	Report and monitor the independence of the external auditor in the financial statements
•	Ensure that there is a process, in terms of which the committee is informed of any ‘Reportable Irregularities’
(as identified in the Audit Profession Act 2005) identified and reported by the external auditor

•	Ascertain the effectiveness of the external audit process
•	As a minimum request from the audit firm the information detailed in paragraph 22.15(h) of the JSE listings
requirements

•	The committee shall have direct and unobstructed lines of communication to the board and external auditors
•	The committee shall have the right of access to records containing information needed to properly perform its
duties and execute its powers

ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

CONTINUED

In terms of the audit function, the committee has decision-making authority with regard to its statutory duties; in this
respect it is accountable to both the board and shareholders. The chairman of the committee must therefore be present
at all AGMs of the company.

Composition of the audit committee
The committee must comprise at least three non-executive board members who must be elected by shareholders on
the recommendation of the board and must be appropriately qualified in terms of the Companies Act. At least onethird of the members must possess academic qualifications, or experience, in economics, law, corporate governance,
finance, accounting, commerce, industry, public affairs or human resources management in order to fulfil their duties
adequately.
The chairman of the board is not eligible to be chairman or a member of the committee.
The board must elect the chairman of the committee and any vacancy of this chairmanship must be filled within
40 business days of it arising in terms of the Companies Act.
The audit committee is currently made up of three non-executive board members who have the necessary financial
literacy, skills and experience to execute their duties effectively.

External advisors or invitees to audit committee meetings
Northam management representatives are invited to attend all audit committee meetings and, the Northam Platinum
Limited audit and risk committee members, external auditors, or Zambezi board members may be invited to attend
audit committee meetings. Invited parties have no voting rights.
Northam’s chief executive officer, chief financial officer and the external auditors, Ernst & Young Inc. attend all audit
committee meetings by invitation.

Key areas of focus during the reporting period
The following areas of focus have been considered by the audit committee:

•	The 31.4% shareholding in Northam Platinum Limited, accounted for as an investment in associate in terms of
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures as well as the determination of the recoverable amount of the
investment in the associate

•
•
•

Impairment of all other financial assets
Utilisation of a deferred tax asset
Accounting of the preference share financial liability

Number of meetings held during the reporting period and attendance at those meetings
The audit committee should hold at least two meetings per annum, however, the committee and management may
agree on appropriate scheduled meetings. At least once a year the committee must meet with the external auditors
without the presence of management.
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Report of the audit committee continued

Attendance at audit committee meetings
Member

18 September 2017

14 February 2018

GS Mseleku – chairman*

√

√

KB Mosehla – chairman*

Apology

√

√

Apology

N/A

N/A

N Mazwai (Ms)
BB Nene**

*	Mr Mosehla resigned as chairman and member at the conclusion of the meeting held on 14 February 2018 and Mr Mseleku was
appointed as chairman on 14 February 2018
**	Mr Nene was appointed as a member of the audit committee on 4 May 2018

Key
√ Attended
The committee met the external auditors without the presence of management on 18 September 2017.

Annual confirmations
Appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the chief financial officer
In terms of the JSE listings requirements, the audit committee has satisfied itself as to the appropriateness of the
expertise and experience of the chief financial officer of Northam Platinum Limited, who performs the relevant duties
on Zambezi’s behalf.

Independence and re-appointment of external auditors
The audit committee is satisfied that Ernst & Young Inc., with the designated registered auditor being Mr Ebrahim
Dhorat, who will replace Mr Mike Herbst for the financial year ending 30 June 2019, is independent of the company
and the group. The committee has reviewed and assessed the suitability of the external auditor and the designated
registered auditor in terms of the JSE listings requirements and recommends the re-appointment of Ernst & Young Inc.
for the financial year ending 30 June 2019.

Going concern statement including solvency and liquidity
Based on the solvency and liquidity tests performed, the audit committee report that they have a reasonable expectation
that the company and group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
This assumes that the company and group will continue to receive the support of Northam Platinum Limited going
forward and is therefore assessed as being a going concern.

Effectiveness of internal controls
Using Northam Platinum Limited’s combined assurance model and the related assurance obtained from the various
assurance providers in the three lines of defence as basis, the committee recommended to the board that it issues a
statement as to the adequacy of the internal control environment.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

CONTINUED

Annual financial statements
The committee has:

•	reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements with the external auditors and the chief financial
officer of Northam Platinum Limited under whose supervision the annual financial statements have been prepared;

•	reviewed the external auditor’s management letter and management’s response thereto; and
•	reviewed significant adjustments resulting from external audit queries and accepted any

unadjusted audit

differences.
The committee concurs with, and accepts the external auditor’s conclusions on, the annual financial statements and
has recommended the approval thereof to the board. The committee recommended the annual financial statements to
the board for approval. The board has subsequently approved the financial statements, which will be open for discussion
at the forthcoming AGM.
The committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled its responsibilities in accordance with the terms of reference for the
reporting period ended 30 June 2018.

GS Mseleku
Chairman – audit committee
30 August 2018
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COMPANY SECRETARY’S CONFIRMATION
I, PB Beale, in my capacity as company secretary of Northam, the secretaries of the company, hereby certify in terms
of section 88(2) of the Companies Act that all returns and notices required of a public company in terms of the
Companies Act have, in respect of the year under review, been lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property
Commission and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Northam Platinum Limited
Secretaries
per PB Beale
30 August 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited

Report on the Audit of the Group and Separate Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the Group and Separate Financial Statements of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited Group and Company
set out on pages 22 to 63, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, and the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying Group and Separate Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
group and separate financial position of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2018, and of its group and separate
financial performance and its group and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Group and Separate Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory
Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code), the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA code) and other independence requirements
applicable to performing audits of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited and its subsidiaries. We have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code, IESBA Code, and in accordance with other ethical requirements
applicable to performing the audit of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited and its associate. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period. We have determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate
in our report.

Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the Annual Report, which includes the Directors’ Report, the Audit Committee Report and the Company Secretary’s
Certificate as required by the Companies Act of South Africa which we obtained prior to the date of this report.
Other information does not include the Group and Separate Financial Statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

Our opinion on the Group and Separate Financial Statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the Group and Separate Financial Statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the Group and
Separate Financial Statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Group and Separate Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the Group and Separate Financial Statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South
Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of group financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the Group and Separate Financial Statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Group and Separate Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Group and Separate Financial Statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these the Group and Separate Financial Statements.

ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018

23

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

CONTINUED

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Group and Separate Financial Statements whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s and the Company’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the Group and Separate Financial Statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group and Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Group and Separate Financial Statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the Group and Separate Financial Statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the Group and Separate Financial Statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent auditor’s report continued

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the Group and Separate Financial Statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 04 December 2015, and subsequent
guidance, we report that Ernst & Young Inc. has been the auditor of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited for four years.

Ernst & Young Inc.
Director: Mike Herbst
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor
102 Rivonia, Sandton,
Johannesburg, South Africa
30 August 2018
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The annual financial statements set out on pages 28 to 63 have been prepared under the supervision of the chief financial
STATEMENTS
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
officer of Northam Platinum Limited, Mr AZ Khumalo CA(SA).

At 30 June 2018

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

The annual financial statements set out on pages 28 to 63 have been prepared under the supervision of the chief
At 30 June 2018
financial officer of Northam Platinum Limited, Mr AZ Khumalo CA(SA).
Group
Notes

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

5 865 332

6 679 620

5 865 332

6 468 176

5 865 332

6 679 620

5 865 332

6 468 176
445

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment in associate

2

Current assets

474

445

474

Trade and other receivables

4

6

7

6

7

Cash and cash equivalents

5

468

438

468

438

5 865 806

6 680 065

5 865 806

6 468 621

(3 952 855)

(1 984 161)

(3 952 855)

(2 167 942)

–

–

–

–

(3 952 741)

(1 984 161)

(3 952 855)

(2 167 942)

(114)

–

–

–
8 636 557

Total assets
EQUITY
Total equity
Stated capital

6

Accumulated loss
Share of other comprehensive
income from associate
Non-current liabilities

9 818 650

8 664 220

9 818 650

Deferred tax liability

7

–

27 663

–

–

Preference share liability

8

9 818 650

8 636 557

9 818 650

8 636 557

Current liabilities

11

6

11

6

South African Revenue Service

11

6

11

6

5 865 806

6 680 065

5 865 806

6 468 621

Total equity and liabilities
AN

1
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STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
Forthe
theyear
yearended
ended3030June
June
2018
For
2018

Group

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

Notes

R000

R000

R000

R000

Share of earnings from associate

2

126 001

119 935

–

–

Mark to market fair value adjustment

2

–

–

(602 844)

(407 759)

Impairment
Preference share dividends
Interest received

2

(940 175)

–

–

–

10

(1 182 093)

(1 060 860)

(1 182 093)

(1 060 860)

9

35

22

35

22

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1 996 233)

(940 904)

(1 784 903)

(1 468 598)

Bank charges
Loss before tax
Taxation

11

Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income items
that may be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
Share of associate’s exchange
differences on translating foreign
operations and foreign currency
translation
Total comprehensive income
for the year

2

27 653

(26 871)

(10)

71 632

(1 968 580)

(967 775)

(1 784 913)

(1 396 966)

(114)

–

–

–

(114)

–

–

–

(1 968 694)

(967 775)

(1 784 913)

(1 396 966)

2

ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018

29
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OF CHANGES
CHANGES IN
STATEMENTS
IN EQUITY
EQUITY
For the
theyear
yearended
ended3030June
June
2018
For
2018

Group

Stated capital

Accumulated
loss

Share of other
comprehensive
income from
associate

R000

R000

R000

R000

Opening balance as at 1 July 2016

*

(1 016 386)

–

(1 016 386)

Loss and total comprehensive income for
the year

–

(967 775)

–

(967 775)

Balance as at 1 July 2017

*

(1 984 161)

–

(1 984 161)

Total comprehensive income for the year

–

(1 968 580)

(114)

(1 968 694)

Loss for the year

–

(1 968 580)

–

(1 968 580)

Other comprehensive income for the year

–

–

(114)

(114)

Balance as at 30 June 2018

*

(3 952 741)

(114)

(3 952 855)

Stated capital

Accumulated
loss

Total

*The stated capital amounts to R101, therefore less than R1 000
Company
Total

R000

R000

R000

Opening balance as at 1 July 2016

*

(770 976)

(770 976)

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year

–

(1 396 966)

(1 396 966)

Balance as at 1 July 2017

*

(2 167 942)

(2 167 942)

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year

–

(1 784 913)

(1 784 913)

Balance as at 30 June 2018

*

(3 952 855)

(3 952 855)

*The stated capital amounts to R101, therefore less than R1 000
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STATEMENTS OF
OF CASH
CASH FLOWS
STATEMENTS
FLOWS
For the
theyear
yearended
ended3030June
June
2018
For
2018

Group
Notes
Cash flows from operating activities

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

30

14

30

14

Cash utilised from operations

12

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

Change in working capital

13

1

(7)

1

(7)

35

22

35

22

(5)

–

(5)

–

Movement in cash and cash
equivalents

30

14

30

14

Cash and cash equivalents
at beginning of year

438

424

438

424

468

438

468

438

Interest received
Tax paid

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the year

14

5

4
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NOTES TO
TO THE
THE FINANCIAL
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTS
For
the year
yearended
ended3030June
June
2018
For the
2018

The group and separate financial statements of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018 were authorised
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 30 August 2018. Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited
(the company or the group) is a limited company incorporated and domiciled in South Africa and whose preference shares are
publicly traded.

1.

Accounting policies: basis of preparation and statement of compliance

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the
requirements of the Companies Act. The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the
investment in associate which is carried at fair value through profit or loss in the separate company financial statements and
incorporate the following principal accounting policies.
The accounting policies adopted are in accordance with the IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee, as adopted by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants
(SAICA) and are consistent with those applied for the previous financial year, unless specifically indicated.
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires that management and the board exercise their
judgment in the process of applying the company’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical economic and
other estimates.
The group financial statements represent the results of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited, in which the associate, Northam Platinum
Limited, is equity accounted. These are not consolidated financial statements as anticipated by IFRS 10, however these are
referred to as group results to indicate that they are not the separate financial statements of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited.
1.1

New accounting policies adopted

The following standards, amendments or interpretations impacting the company which became effective for the financial year
beginning 1 July 2017 were adopted:
•

IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 7 (refer to note 15)
The IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and help users of financial statements better understand changes in an entity’s debt. The
amendments require entities to provide disclosures about changes in their liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes (such as foreign exchange gains or losses).

•

IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses – Annual Improvements Amendments to IAS 12

The adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations resulted in changes only in additional disclosures in the
financial statements. They did not impact any amounts recognised in the group and separate statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income or group and separate statement of financial position.
The financial statements are presented in South African rand, which is Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s functional currency and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (R000), except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued
Notes to the financial
statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2018
1.2

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards, amendments and interpretations were in issue
but not yet effective. The effective date refers to periods beginning on or after, unless otherwise indicated.
Due to Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s ring fenced nature, only the following standards, amendments and interpretations which
were in issue but not yet effective are relevant to Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited:
Standard or
interpretation
IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments

Impact
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments is the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB)’s replacement of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. The Standard includes requirements for recognition and
measurement, impairment, derecognition and general hedge accounting of
financial instruments.
The new standard contains substantial changes from the current financial
instruments standard (IAS 39) with regards to the classification, measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting requirements. These changes include:
•
Classification and measurement: The new classification requirements are
based on both the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of a financial asset. The more
principles-based approach of IFRS 9 requires the careful use of judgment in
its application.
•

Impairment: The IASB has sought to address a key concern that arose as a
result of the financial crisis, that the incurred loss model in IAS 39 contributed
to the delayed recognition of credit losses. As such, it has introduced a
forward-looking expected credit loss model.

•

Hedge accounting: The aim of the new hedge accounting model is to provide
useful information about risk management activities that an entity undertakes
using financial instruments, with the effect that financial reporting will reflect
more accurately how an entity manages its risk and the extent to which
hedging mitigates those risks.

Effective date
1 January 2018

IFRS 9 establishes a new model for recognition and measurement of impairments
in loans and receivables that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI), the so-called expected credit losses model.
This is the only impairment model that applies in IFRS 9 because all other assets
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) or, in the
case of qualifying equity investments, FVOCI with no recycling to profit or loss.
Expected credit losses are calculated by: identifying scenarios in which a loan or
receivable defaults; estimating the cash shortfall that would be incurred in each
scenario if a default were to happen; multiplying that loss by the probability of the
default happening; and summing the results of all such possible default events.

6
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2018
Standard or
interpretation

Impact
Because every loan and receivable has at least some probability of defaulting in
the future, every loan or receivable has an expected credit loss associated with it
from the moment of its origination or acquisition.

Effective date

IFRS 9 does not require an entity to restate prior periods. Restatement is permitted,
if and only if, it is possible without the use of hindsight and the restated financial
statements reflect all of the requirements of IFRS 9.
Below is a brief summary of the expected impact that IFRS 9 will have on the
statement of financial position:
Classification and measurement
The company does not expect a significant impact on its statement of financial
position or equity on applying the classification and measurement requirements of
IFRS 9. The group expects to continue measuring at fair value all financial assets
currently held at fair value, relating to the investment in Northam Platinum Limited.
Trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents are held to collect contractual
cash flows and are expected to give rise to cash flows representing accrued interest
and meets the criteria for amortised cost measurement under IFRS 9. Therefore,
reclassification will not be required.
Impairment
IFRS 9 requires an entity to record expected credit losses on financial assets
measured at amortised cost which includes cash and cash equivalents and trade
receivables. Trade receivables relate to accrued interest and cash and cash
equivalents relates to cash held at reputable financial institutions. No impairments
are therefore expected with the adoption of IFRS 9.
Hedge accounting
The group currently does not apply hedge accounting and these changes are
therefore not expected to impact the group.
IFRIC
Interpretation 23
Uncertainty over
Income Tax
Treatments

The interpretation addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments
involve uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12. The interpretation does
not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically
include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax
treatments.
The interpretation specifically addresses the following:
•
Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately

34

•

The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments
by taxation authorities

•

How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and tax rates

•

How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances

1 January 2019

Notes to the financial statements continued

Standard or
interpretation

Impact
An entity has to determine whether to consider each uncertain tax treatment
separately or together with one or more other uncertain tax treatments. The
approach that better predicts the resolution of the uncertainty should be followed.

Effective date

The standard currently has no impact on the entity because Zambezi Platinum (RF)
Limited does not have any uncertain tax positions.
Conceptual
Framework

The IASB has revised its Conceptual Framework. The primary purpose of the
Framework is to assist the IASB (and the Interpretations Committee) by identifying
concepts that it will use when setting standards.

1 January 2020

Key changes include:
• Increasing the prominence of stewardship in the objective of financial reporting,
which is to provide information that is useful in making resource allocation
decisions.
• Reinstating prudence, defined as the exercise of caution when making
judgments under conditions of uncertainty, as a component of neutrality.
• Defining a reporting entity, which might be a legal entity or a portion of a legal
entity.
• Revising the definition of an asset as a present economic resource controlled by
the entity as a result of past events.
• Revising the definition of a liability as a present obligation of the entity to transfer
an economic resource as a result of past events.
• Removing the probability threshold for recognition, and adding guidance on
derecognition.
• Adding guidance on the information provided by different measurement bases,
and explaining factors to consider when selecting a measurement basis.
• Stating that profit or loss is the primary performance indicator and that, in
principle, income and expenses in other comprehensive income should be
recycled where the relevance or faithful representation of the financial
statements would be enhanced.
The Board and Interpretations Committee will immediately begin using the revised
Framework, and the group will consider it when needed in terms of IAS 8 hierarchy
dealing with selecting accounting policies not covered by an IFRS standard.

Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited does not intend on early adoption of any of the above standards, amendments or interpretations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTScontinued
For
2018
For the
theyear
yearended
ended3030June
June
2018
1.3

Revenue and other income

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues.
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost, interest income is recorded using the effective interest rate method.
The effective interest rate method is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of
the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest income is included in Interest received in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Dividends
Dividend income is recognised when the company’s right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when
shareholders approve the dividend.

9

36

Notes to the financial
statements continued
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

For the year ended 30 June 2018
1.4

Taxation

Current tax
Current tax is measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authority. The tax rate and tax laws
used to compute the amount of the tax asset or liability are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
The charge for current tax is based on the results for the year, as adjusted for by items that are exempt or disallowed, and is
calculated using the enacted tax rates, at the reporting date.
Where items are credited or charged directly to equity or other comprehensive income, the tax effect is also recognised within
equity or other comprehensive income as appropriate.
Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised
for all taxable temporary differences, except: Where the ‘initial recognition exception’ applies; and in respect of ‘outside’
temporary differences relating to associates.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available, against which the deductible tempora ry
differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised in the foreseeable future except: Where
the ‘initial recognition exception’ applies; and in respect of ‘outside’ temporary differences relating to associates.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rate that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at th e
reporting date.
Deferred income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income is recognised in equity or
other comprehensive income as appropriate and not in profit or loss.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
income tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and taxable entity.
Uncertain tax positions
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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NOTES TO
NOTES
TO THE
THE FINANCIAL
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTScontinued
For the
the year
yearended
ended3030June
June
2018
For
2018
1.5

Associate

Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies. This is generally
the case where the group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting.
Under the equity method, the investment in associate is initially recognised at cost.
Subsequently, the carrying amount is adjusted by Zambezi’s share of the post-acquisition profit or loss, and certain inter-entity
transactions together with a reduction for any dividends received or receivable from the associate.
The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income reflects the entity’s share of the results of operations of the
associate. Any change in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ of those investees is presented as part of the group’s ‘Other
Comprehensive Income’. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.
The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the group, using consistent accounting
policies.
After application of the equity method, the group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on its
investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the group determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment
in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value.
The investment in associate is accounted at fair value through profit or loss in the separate company financial statements.

11
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued
Notes to the financial
statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2018
1.6

Financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument
of another entity.
Financial instruments recognised on the statement of financial position include cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and
preference shares. These are recognised when the entity becomes party to the contractual agreements. All financial instruments
are initially recorded at fair value adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs.
Loans and receivables
This category generally applies to trade and other receivables as well as cash and cash equivalents.
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less any allowance for impairment. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in interest received in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the receivables are derecognised or impaired.
Preference shares
The redeemable preference shares are classified as financial liabilities, because they bear compulsory dividends and are
redeemable in cash and/or a variable number of Northam Platinum Limited shares at the end of the 10-year lock-in period.
After initial recognition, preference shares are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized.
Accrued dividends on preference shares are recognised as preference share dividends.
Impairment of financial instruments
The group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is objective evidence that loans and receivables are impaired. An
impairment exists if one or more events that has occurred since the initial recognition of the asset, has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows. The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate.
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TO THE
NOTES
THE FINANCIAL
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTScontinued
Forthe
theyear
yearended
ended3030June
June
2018
For
2018
2.

Investment in associate
Group

Opening balance 1 July
Share of earnings from associate
Mark to market fair value adjustment
Impairment
Share of other comprehensive income
from associate

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

6 679 620

6 559 685

6 468 176

6 875 935

126 001

119 935

–

–

–

–

(602 844)

(407 759)

(940 175)

–

–

–

(114)

–

–

–

5 865 332

6 679 620

5 865 332

6 468 176

The investment in associate represents Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s 31.4% investment in Northam Platinum Limited, a
company listed on the JSE. The initial fair value of the investment was determined with reference to the share price at acquisition
date, being 18 May 2015. The sale or trade of the Northam Platinum Limited shares is restricted for the lock-in period of 10 years,
as a lock-in fee was paid and distributed to Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s shareholders. Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited is
therefore not allowed to trade their Northam Platinum Limited shares during this period.
The share of profits from associate and share of other comprehensive income represents Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s 31.4%
share in the profits and other comprehensive income of Northam Platinum Limited for the year.
The mark to market fair value adjustment represents the movement in the share price between reporting periods. Below is the
closing share price of Northam Platinum Limited at the year end, together with the number of shares held:
Company

Northam Platinum Limited (trading under share code NHM) closing share price
Number of shares

2018

2017

R000

R000

R36.68

R40.45

159 905 453

159 905 453

The impairment accounted for in group relates to the write down of the investment in Northam Platinum Limited to the recoverable
value, which was determined based on the share price at year end.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued
Notes to the financial
statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2018

Below is a summary of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the company’s associate, Northam
Platinum Limited:

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
2018

2017

R000

R000

Sales revenue

7 552 181

6 865 185

Cost of sales

(6 728 867)

(6 251 200)

Operating costs

(6 318 000)

(5 676 017)

Concentrates purchased

(1 410 506)

(404 093)

Refining and other costs

(123 840)

(120 633)

Depreciation and write-offs

(441 865)

(452 584)

1 565 344

402 127

823 314

613 985

Change in metal inventories
Gross profit
Share of earnings from associates and joint ventures
Investment revenue
Finance charges excluding preference share dividends
Net foreign exchange transaction gains/(losses)
Sundry income

4 162

4 870

52 633

167 306

(68 481)

(71 185)

2 368

(46 729)

217 005

73 361

(380 944 )

(130 843)

Profit before preference share dividends

650 057

610 765

Amortisation of liquidity fees paid on preference shares

(16 390)

(16 390)

(1 106 684)

(1 017 396)

Sundry expenditure

Preference share dividends
Loss on derecognition of preference share liability

(8)

(901)

Loss before taxation

(473 025)

(423 922)

Taxation

(231 973)

(212 021)

Loss for the year

(704 998)

(635 943)

Other comprehensive income

(364)

–

(705 362)

(635 943)

Profit for the year ended taking into account intergroup eliminations*

401 694

382 354

Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s 31.4% share of earnings

126 001

119 935

Other comprehensive income

(364)

–

Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s 31.4% share of other comprehensive
income

(114)

–

Total comprehensive income for the year

*Excludes the preference share dividends and loss on derecogniton of the preference
share liability
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For the
theyear
yearended
ended3030June
June
2018
For
2018

Below is a summary of the statement of financial position of the company’s associate, Northam Platinum Limited:

Statement of financial position

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Mining properties and mineral resources
Interest in associates and joint ventures
Land and township development
Long-term receivables
Investment held by Northam Platinum Restoration Trust Fund
Environmental Guarantee Investment
Buttonshope Conservancy Trust
Long-term prepayments
Other assets
Deferred tax asset
Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Tax receivables
Non-current assets held for sale
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Total equity
Stated capital
Treasury shares
Retained earnings
Foreign currency translation reserve
Equity-settled share-based payment reserve
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term provisions
Preference share liability
Long-term loans
Long-term share-based payment liability
Domestic medium term notes
Revolving credit facility
Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term loans
Current portion of domestic medium term notes
Short-term share-based payment liability
Tax payable
Trade and other payable
Bank overdraft
Short-term provisions
Total equity and liabilities

16
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2018
R000

2017
R000

19 108 944
11 874 146
6 629 160
171 376
65 680
86 897
110 626
68 899
12 203
89 608
–
349
4 715 090
3 386 795
924 085
388 702
15 508
–
23 824 034

15 483 553
9 022 260
5 636 342
167 214
48 529
83 745
102 233
68 104
11 126
336 409
7 591
–
4 103 337
1 729 102
548 997
1 786 865
38 373
49 222
19 636 112

7 386 679
13 778 114
(6 556 123)
(709 396)
(364)
874 448
12 832 267
824 794
640 128
9 445 500
182 063
78 999
174 288
1 486 495
3 605 088
24 540
1 243 440
78 340
117
1 965 975
95 535
197 141
23 824 034

8 092 041
13 778 114
(6 556 123)
(4 398)
–
874 448
9 929 685
585 883
304 829
8 279 825
249 428
88 639
421 081
–
1 614 386
13 434
–
75 026
102 550
1 268 172
–
155 204
19 636 112

Notes to the financial
statements continued
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued

For the year ended 30 June 2018

Significant judgments and estimates: Impairment assessment
At each reporting date an assessment is made, whether there are indications that the investment in Northam Platinum Limited
is impaired. If any indication exists, the investment’s recoverable amount is assessed. The recoverable amount is the higher of
an asset’s or cash generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use, the higher of which has been
determined as fair value less costs of disposal.
When the carrying amount of the investment exceeds its recoverable amount, the investment is considered impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy as per IFRS 13 has three different levels and gives the highest
priority to quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs. An active market is one
in which transactions for the asset and liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on
an ongoing basis. The frequency and volume of Northam Platinum Limited (trading under share code NHM) share trading on
the JSE is considered to be an active market and the share price of the investment in Northam Platinum Limited was therefore
considered to be the best assessment of fair value. Below is the closing share price as at year end:

NHM closing share price
Number of shares held by Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited in Northam Platinum
Limited
Fair value of investment in Northam Platinum Limited

2018

2017

R000

R000

R36.68

R40.45

159 905 453

159 905 453

5 865 332

6 468 176

The Northam share price has been impacted by a general negative market sentiment towards the platinum industry resulting
from lackluster global demand and weak metal prices, particularly for platinum.
Due to the significant difference between the value of the investment when equity accounting the 31.4% investment in
Northam Platinum Limited and the fair value using the quoted closing share price (Level 1), an impairment amounting to
R940.2 million was accounted for in the group results of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited.
The investment in the associate, Northam Platinum Limited, is both considered to be the only cash generating unit as well as the
only segment of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited.

17

ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018

43

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTScontinued
Forthe
theyear
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2018
For
2018

Below is a reconciliation of the value of the investment in associate to the net asset value of the investment based on the
statement of financial position of Northam Platinum Limited:
2018

2017

R000

R000

Net asset value of Northam Platinum Limited

7 386 679

8 092 041

Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s 31.4% share of net asset value of Northam
Platinum Limited

2 317 014

2 538 268

At acquisition fair value adjustment

3 539 949

3 539 949

948 658

601 403

(114)

–

(940 175)

–

5 865 332

6 679 620

Impact of the preference share dividends and loss on derecogniton of the
preference share liability in Northam Platinum Limited
Share of other comprehensive income
Impairment
Value of investment in associate in the group accounts of Zambezi Platinum (RF)
Limited

18
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued
Notes to the financial
statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2018

3. Nature of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited and the relationship with Northam Platinum Limited
The company was established as a special purpose vehicle by Northam Platinum Limited, with the principal objective of achieving
Northam Platinum Limited’s black economic empowerment (BEE) compliance.
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited was incorporated on 2 June 2014. The company was created for the purpose of assisting Northam
Platinum Limited to comply with the historically disadvantaged South African (HDSA) ownership requirements set by the Mining
Charter. The company was set up for the purpose of facilitating a transaction in which it holds shares in Northam Platinum
Limited, and in turn Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited issued preference shares to relevant qualifying shareholders to fund the
purchase of 31.4% of Northam Platinum Limited shares.
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited therefore holds 159 905 453 Northam Platinum Limited shares which amounts to approximately
31.4% of the total issued ordinary share capital of Northam Platinum Limited, which is accounted for as an associate of
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited.
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited is a ring-fenced entity created for the specific purpose of raising funds to subscribe for the BEE
shares. As such, Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited will not be conducting any other business activities until the expiry of the lockin period (which is 10 years from May 2015).
At the end of the 10-year period, Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited is required to redeem the preference shares with cash and/or
Northam Platinum Limited shares. All amounts payable to the holders of the preference shares are guaranteed by
Northam Platinum Limited in terms of the transaction agreement. Further, Northam Platinum Limited is required to settle the
operational expenses of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited, subject to certain limitations.
The preference share dividend rate is calculated with reference to the South African prime interest rate and is not dependent on
the financial performance of either Northam Platinum Limited or Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited.
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s prospects are therefore limited in nature in that they are dependent on the prospects of the
Northam Platinum Limited share price and the returns attributable to the preference shares are constant and fluctuate only in
accordance with prevailing interest rates. Various characteristics of the preference shares, such as the Northam guarantee
and redemption payment structure, provide the holders with additional certainty regarding the recoverability of their dividends
and capital.
However, the preference shares retain equity risk as a result of its redemption being ultimately supported by the value of
Northam Platinum Limited shares and/or Northam Platinum Limited’s ability to continue as a going concern. The preference
shares therefore present their holders with a combination of the risks and rewards associated with equity and debt instruments.
Northam Platinum Limited’s prospects for growth and continued profitability are subject to various external and internal factors
which cannot be accurately predicted, projected or controlled by Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited as an investor in Northam
Platinum Limited.
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The redemption of the preference shares will occur, firstly and foremost, through any cash received from dividends received from
Northam Platinum Limited during the 10-year period, and after the end of the 10-year lock-in period the possible sell-off of
Northam Platinum Limited shares into the market, to redeem the preference shares. In the event that this is not sufficient to settle
the liability, it will be secured in terms of a financial guarantee (Northam guarantee).
Should a liability arise under the Northam guarantee, Northam Platinum Limited may settle this liability by capitalising
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited with cash and/or through the issue of Northam Platinum Limited shares before the redemption
amount becomes due or making payment directly to the preference shareholders. The manner of settlement is not contractually
specified and is at the discretion of Northam Platinum Limited.
Therefore, should the Northam Platinum Limited share price not increase sufficiently in value over the next 10 years to cover the
preference share liability, there could be a dilution in value for all Northam Platinum Limited shareholders, should additional
Northam Platinum Limited shares be issued to the preference shareholders.
Northam guarantee
The redemption of the preference shares is secured by a financial guarantee from Northam Platinum Limited. In terms of the
financial guarantee, Northam Platinum Limited will be responsible for the payment of all amounts which Zambezi Platinum (RF)
Limited has contracted but failed to pay in terms of the BEE preference share terms – either by means of a cash payment or the
issue of a determinable number of Northam Platinum Limited shares to the BEE preference shareholders, or a cash and Northam
Platinum Limited share combination.
Lock-in and restraint payment
In terms of the Northam BEE transaction, Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited has undertaken not to dispose of or encumber the BEE
shares for the duration of the 10-year lock-in period, other than in accordance with the preference share terms and the Zambezi
pledge and cession agreement. In terms of the relationship agreements, the ordinary shareholders have, in turn, undertaken not
to dispose of or encumber their Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited ordinary shares for the duration of the lock-in period.
Furthermore, Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited has, pursuant to the subscription agreement, and the HDSA participants have,
pursuant to their respective relationship agreements, undertaken in favour of Northam Platinum Limited not to be engaged,
directly or indirectly, or in any way to be interested, in any platinum group metal (PGM) exploration, PGM prospecting or PGM
mining activities or in any competitor of the Northam Platinum Limited group for the duration of the lock-in period, save to the
extent specifically permitted under such relationship agreements.
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For the year ended 30 June 2018
N share

Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited issued the N share to Northam Platinum Limited, the purpose of which is to allow
Northam Platinum Limited to take certain mitigating action in the event of the occurrence of an early redemption event under the
preference share terms and/or the unwinding of the transaction prior to the expiry of the lock-in period.
The N share ranks ahead of the distribution rights of the holders of the Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited ordinary shares and is
equal to the amount of the lock-in and restraint payment plus interest accrued thereon from the date on which the lock-in and
restraint payment was made until the date of payment of the N share distribution, at the dividend rate compounded annually.
Other than as required in terms of the Companies Act, the N share does not entitle Northam Platinum Limited to any voting rights.
Administration of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited
For purposes of ensuring that Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited does not incur any liabilities or indebtedness, other than pursuant
to the transaction agreements, and that it remains ring fenced, Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited and Northam Platinum Limited
entered into an administration services agreement in terms of which Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited has appointed Northam
Platinum Limited to attend to the day-to-day management of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s business and the administration
of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s affairs at Northam Platinum Limited’s sole cost and expense and with no recourse to Zambezi
Platinum (RF) Limited subject to maximum costs and expenses of up to R2.0 million per annum, escalating annually at CPI from
the 1st (first) anniversary of the implementation date.

21
ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018

47

NOTES TO
TO THE
THE FINANCIAL
NOTES
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTScontinued
Forthe
theyear
yearended
ended3030June
June
2018
For
2018
4.

Trade and other receivables
Group

Accrued interest

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

6

7

6

7

6

7

6

7

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

468

438

468

438

468

438

468

438

Accrued interest relates to interest earned on positive bank balances.

5.

Cash and cash equivalents
Group

Cash at bank and on hand

Company

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.
The weighted average effective interest rate on short-term deposits was 6.85% (2017: 8.33%) and these deposits are
immediately available.
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of the above balance as the company and
group currently has no bank overdrafts.
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6.

Stated capital
Group and company
2018

2017

R000

R000

10 000 ordinary shares at an issue price of R0.01 per ordinary share

*

*

1 N share at an issue price of R0.01 per N share

*

*

Authorised stated capital
11 000 ordinary shares at no par value
159 905 453 Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited preference shares
1 N share
Issued and fully paid stated capital

*Less than R1 000

23
ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018

49

NOTES TO
TO THE
THE FINANCIAL
NOTES
FINANCIALSTATEMENTS
STATEMENTScontinued
Forthe
theyear
yearended
ended3030June
June
2018
For
2018
7.

Deferred tax

The charge in the deferred tax balance is reconciled as follows:
Group

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

27 663

798

–

71 638

Temporary difference in respect of
investment in associate

(182 400)

26 865

(154 737)

(91 338)

Non-recognition of a deferred tax asset

154 737

–

154 737

19 700

–

27 663

–

–

Deferred tax at the beginning of the year
Charge for the year

On a group basis, the temporary difference in respect of the investment in associate, has been calculated as the difference
between the carrying value at the end of the current year and the original purchase price of the Northam Platinum Limited
investment at the capital gains tax rate.
This has resulted in a deferred tax asset which was not recognised.
On a company basis, the temporary difference in respect of the investment in associate, has been calculated as the difference
between fair value through profit or loss at the end of the current year and the original purchase price of the Northam Platinum
Limited investment at the capital gains tax rate.
This has resulted in a deferred tax asset which was not recognised.
Significant judgments and estimates: Utilisation of a deferred tax asset
The utilisation of a deferred tax asset is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of the profits arising from the reve rsal of
taxable temporary differences. In light of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s structure, there is an inherent uncertainty if future
taxable profits will be available against which a deferred tax asset can be utilised. Management concluded, following due
assessment, that it was prudent not to raise a deferred tax asset.
A deferred tax assets is recognised to the extent that it is believed that these assets are more likely than not to be realised.
In making such a determination, consideration is given to all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals
of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent
operations.
As a result of the above judgment made by management, no deferred tax asset relating to the temporary difference of
R690.8 million (2017: R87.9 million) was raised, in either the group or company accounts.

24
50

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
continued
Notes to the financial
statements continued
For the year ended 30 June 2018
8.

Preference share liability
Group

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

Opening balance

8 636 557

7 575 697

8 636 557

7 575 697

Accrued dividends for the year

1 182 093

1 060 860

1 182 093

1 060 860

9 818 650

8 636 557

9 818 650

8 636 557

In May 2015, 159 905 453 cumulative redeemable preference shares were issued by Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited at an issue
price of R41 per share. The preference shares are redeemable in 10 years from date of issue being May 2025, at R41 plus the
cumulative preference dividends. The preference shareholders are entitled to receive a dividend equal to the issue price
multiplied by the dividend rate of the South African prime interest rate plus 3.5% calculated on a daily basis, based on a 365-day
year compounded annually and capitalised at the end of December of every year.
No dividends were received from Northam Platinum Limited during the current financial year (2017: R Nil). 90% of all dividends
received from Northam Platinum Limited must be used to settle the preference share liability. The remaining 10% of the dividends
to be received from Northam Platinum Limited will be distributed to Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s shareholders as a dividend.
The redeemable preference shares do not carry the right to vote.

9.

Interest received
Group

Interest earned on cash and cash
equivalents

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

35

22

35

22

35

22

35

22
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10.

Preference share dividends
Group

Accrued dividends on preference shares

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

1 182 093

1 060 860

1 182 093

1 060 860

1 182 093

1 060 860

1 182 903

1 060 860

Preference shareholders are entitled to receive a dividend equal to the issue price multiplied by the dividend rate of the South
African prime interest rate plus 3.5% calculated on a daily basis, based on a 365-day year compounded annually and capitalised
at the end of December of every year.
Any dividends received by Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited from its investment in Northam Platinum Limited will be paid out to
shareholders of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited. In terms of the shareholders agreement, 10% of all dividends received will be
paid out to Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s ordinary shareholders immediately and the remaining 90% will be paid to its
preference shareholders to settle outstanding accrued dividends.
No dividends were received from Northam Platinum Limited during the current financial year (2017: R Nil).
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11.

Taxation
Group

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

10

6

10

6

–

26 865

–

–

(182 400)

–

–

–
(91 338)

Normal tax
Current year taxation
Deferred tax
Current year temporary differences
relating to capital gains tax on fair value
uplift relating to the investment in
associate
Current year temporary differences
relating to capital gains tax on the
impairment on the investment in
associate
Current year temporary difference relating
to capital gains tax on the mark to market
adjustment

–

–

(154 737)

Non-recognition of deferred tax asset

154 737

–

154 737

19 700

Charge for the year

(27 653)

26 871

10

(71 632)

A reconciliation of the standard rate of South African tax compared with that charged in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income is set out below:
Group

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

%

%

%

%

28.0

28.0

28.0

28.0

1.8

3.6

–

–

Mark to market adjustment raised/not
raised at the capital gains tax rate

–

–

(9.5)

(7.8)

Capital gains liability raised on difference
between carrying value and original
purchase price in respect of ‘outside’
temporary differences

South African companies tax
Share of earnings from associate

–

(2.9)

–

–

Preference share dividends not
deductible for tax

(16.6)

(31.6)

(18.5)

(20.2)

Deferred tax asset not raised

(11.8)

–

–

4.9

1.4

(2.9)

0.0

4.9
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For the year ended 30 June 2018

12.

Cash utilised from operations
Group

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

(1 996 233)

(940 904)

(1 784 903)

(1 468 598)

Share of earnings from associate

(126 001)

(119 935)

–

–

Impairment

940 175

–

–

–

1 182 093

1 060 860

1 182 093

1 060 860

Loss before tax
Adjustment for non-cash items:

Preference share dividends
Mark to market fair value adjustment
Interest received

13.

–

–

602 844

407 759

(35)

(22)

(35)

(22)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

1

(7)

1

(7)

1

(7)

1

(7)

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

(5)

–

(5)

–

(5)

–

(5)

–

Change in working capital
Group

Movement in trade and other receivables

14.

Company

Tax paid

Tax paid consist of the following:
Group

Provisional tax payment
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15.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Below is a reconciliation of the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

Preference share liability

Preference share liability

1 July 2017

Changes
from
financing
cash flows

Changes in
foreign
exchange
rates

Changes in
fair values

Interest

30 June 2018

R000

R000

R000

R000

R000

R000

8 636 557

–

–

–

1 182 093

9 818 650

1 July 2016

Changes
from
financing
cash flows

Changes in
foreign
exchange
rates

Changes in
fair values

Interest

30 June 2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

R000

R000

7 575 697

–

–

–

1 060 860

8 636 557
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16.

Segmental analysis

Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited was created solely to hold 31.4% of the Northam Platinum Limited shares, in order for Northam
Platinum Limited to comply with the requirements of the Mining Charter and the Minerals and Petroleum Resources Development
Act. As a result the activities of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited are limited. Due to the structure and ring-fenced nature of Zambezi
Platinum (RF) Limited the investment held in Northam Platinum Limited is considered significant.
There is therefore only one operating segment relating to Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited, as there are no components which
engage in different business activities and whose results are reviewed and assessed separately.
All assets relate to South African based assets.
All income is earned from sources in South Africa.
The majority of income earned relates to the investment in associate, Northam Platinum Limited.
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17.

Financial risk management

The group’s only financial liability related to the preference share liability. Financial assets consist of trade and other receivables
as well as cash and cash equivalents.
The group is exposed to market, credit and liquidity risk.
It is the group’s policy that no trading in derivatives shall be undertaken.
Northam Platinum Limited oversees the management of these risks and reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks which are summarised below.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market
prices. Market risk comprises interest rate risk and equity risk.
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates.
The group is exposed to interest rate fluctuations in respect to the preference share liability and cash held at banks.
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate preference shares and cash and cash equivalents).
Group

Company

2018

2017

2018

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

Cash and cash equivalents
Increase of 1%

5

4

5

4

Decrease of 1%

(5)

(4)

(5)

(4)

Increase of 1%

(98 187)

(86 366)

(98 187)

(86 366)

Decrease of 1%

98 187

86 366

98 187

86 366

Preference share liability

The group does not use interest rate swaps to convert floating rate exposures to fixed rate exposures in order to minimise interest
rate risk.
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Equity risk
The preference shares retain equity risk as a result of its redemption being ultimately supported by the value of Northam Platinum
Limited shares and/or Northam Platinum Limited’s ability to continue as a going concern. The preference shares therefore present
their holders with a combination of the risks and rewards associated with equity and debt instruments.
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s prospects are therefore limited in nature in that they are dependent on the prospects of the
Northam Platinum Limited’s share price and the returns attributable to the preference shares only in accordance with prevailing
interest rates. Various characteristics of the preference shares, such as the Northam guarantee and redemption payment
structure, provide the holders with additional certainty regarding the recoverability of their dividends and capital.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading
to a financial loss. The group is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily cash balances). The group mitigates
the risk by ensuring that its counter parties are credit worthy institutions.
The group only places funds with recognised financial institutions with a strong credit rating and does not consider the credit risk
exposure to be significant.
The maximum credit risk relating to trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents are the balances disclosed on the statement
of financial position.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will be unable to meet a financial commitment. In order to mitigate any liquidity risk the
group has limited access to funds from Northam Platinum Limited.
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At maturity of the cumulative preference share liability, the contracted undiscounted value of the payment will be the following
assuming the South African prime interest rate stays unchanged.

Preference share liability

Due at the end
of the 10-year
lock-in period

Total

Due at the end
of the 10-year
lock-in period

2018

2018

2017

2017

R000

R000

R000

R000

(23 541 674)

(23 541 674)

(23 917 435)

(23 917 435)

Total

The preference share liability is due at the end of the 10-year lock-in period, which is May 2025. The reason for the movement
is a result of the changes made by Treasury to the South African prime interest rate during the year under review.
The redemption of the preference shares will occur, firstly and foremost, through any cash received from dividends received from
Northam Platinum Limited during the 10-year period, and after the end of the lock-in period the possible sell-off of Northam
Platinum Limited shares into the market, to redeem the preference shares. In the event that this is not sufficient to settle the
liability, it will be secured in terms of a financial guarantee.
The following table summarises the classification of financial instruments for the group and company:
Group

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Preference share liability

Loans and
receivables

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

2018

2018

2018

R000

R000

R000

Total

6

–

6

468

–

468

–

(9 818 650)

(9 818 650)

Group

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Preference share liability

Loans and
receivables

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Total

2017

2017

2017

R000

R000

R000

7

–

7

438

–

438

–

(8 636 557)

(8 636 557)
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Company

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Preference share liability

Loans and
receivables

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

2018

2018

2018

R000

R000

R000

Total

6

–

6

468

–

468

–

(9 818 650)

(9 818 650)

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Total

Company
Loans and
receivables

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Preference share liability

2017

2017

2017

R000

R000

R000

7

–

7

438

–

438

–

(8 636 557)

(8 636 557)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
The fair value of financial instruments are substantially identical to the carrying values reflected in the statement of financial
position.
The fair values have been determined using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies.
Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 – a technique where all inputs that have an impact on the value are observable, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 – a technique where all inputs that have an impact on the value are not observable.
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The fair value hierarchy of all the financial instruments are determined as level 2 except for the investment held in Northam
Platinum Limited on a group basis, which is classified as level 1.
The preference share liability is classified as level 2. Previously it was classified as level 1 but due to the low level of activity in
the South African debt market, the preference share liability has now been classified as a level 2 financial liability.
The fair value has been determined with reference to the closing trading price of the Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited preference
share price (JSE preference share code: ZPLP) as at the year-end date:

ZPLP trading price

2018

2017

R

R

59.00

54.85

The table below discloses the carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities compared to the fair value:
Group
2018

2018

2017

2017

Carrying amount

Fair value

Carrying amount

Fair value

R000

R000

R000

R000

(9 818 650)

(9 434 422)

(8 636 557)

(8 770 814)

2018

2018

2017

2017

Carrying amount

Fair value

Carrying amount

Fair value

R000

R000

R000

R000

5 865 332

5 865 332

6 468 176

6 468 176

(9 818 650)

(9 434 422)

(8 636 557)

(8 770 814)

Financial liabilities
Preference share liability

Company

Financial assets
Investment in associate
Financial liabilities
Preference share liability
Capital management
The primary objective of the group’s capital management is to ensure that it has sufficient capital to meet its preference share
obligations. The redemption of the preference shares is secured by Northam Platinum Limited in terms of a financial guarantee.
As a result Northam Platinum Limited will be responsible for the payment of all amounts which Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited
has contracted but failed to pay in terms of the preference share terms by means of a cash payment or the issue of a determinable
number of Northam Platinum Limited shares to the preference shareholders, or a cash and Northam Platinum Limited share
combination.
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18.

Related parties

Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited holds 159 905 453 Northam Platinum Limited shares which amounts to approximately 31.4% of
the total issued ordinary share capital of Northam Platinum Limited, which is accounted for as an associate of
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited.
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited is a ring-fenced entity created for the specific purpose of raising funds to subscribe for the BEE
shares. As such, Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited will not be conducting any other business activities until the expiry of the lockin period (which is 10 years from May 2015).
The redemption of the preference shares will occur, firstly and foremost, through any cash received from dividends received from
Northam Platinum Limited during the 10-year period, and after the end of the lock-in period the possible sell-off of
Northam Platinum Limited shares into the market, to redeem the preference shares. In the event that this is not sufficient to settle
the liability, it will be secured in terms of a financial guarantee (Northam guarantee).
Should a liability arise under the Northam guarantee, Northam Platinum Limited may settle this liability by capitalising
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited with cash and/or through the issue of Northam Platinum Limited shares before the redemption
amount becomes due or making payment directly to the preference shareholders. The manner of settlement is not contractually
specified and is at the discretion of Northam Platinum Limited.
Northam guarantee
The redemption of the preference shares is secured by a financial guarantee from Northam Platinum Limited.
N share
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited issued the N share to Northam Platinum Limited, the purpose of which is to allow Northam
Platinum Limited to take certain mitigating action in the event of the occurrence of an early redemption event under the preference
share terms and/or the unwinding of the transaction prior to the expiry of the lock-in period.
Administration of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited
For purposes of ensuring that Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited does not incur any liabilities or indebtedness, other than pursuant
to the transaction agreements, and that it remains ring fenced, Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited and Northam Platinum Limited
entered into an administration services agreement in terms of which Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited has appointed
Northam Platinum Limited to attend to the day-to-day management of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s business and the
administration of Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited’s affairs at Northam Platinum Limited’s sole cost and expense and with no
recourse to Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited subject to maximum costs and expenses of up to R2.0 million per annum, escalating
annually at CPI from the 1st (first) anniversary of the implementation date. During the current year expenses to the value of
R1.7 million (2017: R0.6 million) were incurred.
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19.

Going concern

Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited incurred a net loss of R1.8 billion (2017: loss of R1.4 billion) for the year ended 30 June 2018
and, as of that date, the company’s total liabilities exceed its total assets by R4.0 billion (2017: R2.2 billion).
Northam Platinum Limited has guaranteed that it will enable Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited to settle any preference share capital
and dividends required by the transaction, as well as any other expenses incurred by the company.
Northam Platinum Limited guarantees payment of the redemption price in respect of the preference shares and the preference
dividends by way of the Northam guarantee. Northam Platinum Limited guaranteed the payment of all amounts which
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited has contracted to pay (but failed to pay on the due date thereof) in respect of the preference
shares by means of, at Northam Platinum Limited’s election, a cash payment and/or the issue of a determinable number of
Northam Platinum Limited shares to the holders.
The financial statements are prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes
that the company will continue to receive the support of Northam Platinum Limited and that the realisation of assets and
settlement of liabilities will occur in the ordinary course of business.
The group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the group will be able to meet
the repayment terms of the preference shares.

20.

Directors’ remuneration

In terms of the Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited memorandum of incorporation no remuneration shall be paid to any director in
his/her capacity as a director.

21.

Events after the reporting period

There have been no facts or circumstances of a material nature that have occurred between the accounting date and the date
of this report, which requires adjustment to the financial results or the notes to the financial results.
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NOTICE OF THE FOURTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE
OF THE SHAREHOLDERS
FOURTH ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING (AGM)
OF ORDINARY
OF THE COMPANY
(AGM) OF ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
Notice is hereby given in terms of section 62(1) of the Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008 (as amended), (the Companies Act) and
clause 19.4 of the company’s Memorandum of Incorporation (MOI), that the AGM of ordinary shareholders of Zambezi Platinum
(RF) Limited (Zambezi Platinum or the company) (Notice) will be held at Glenhove Conferencing, 52 Glenhove Road,
Melrose Estate, Johannesburg, South Africa on Tuesday, 6 November 2018 at 09:30 for the following purposes:
Considering and, if deemed fit, adopting, with or without modification, the ordinary resolutions set out below:

Ordinary resolutions
•
•
•
•
•

receiving, considering and adopting the audited annual financial statements of Zambezi Platinum for the year ended
30 June 2018;
re-electing directors;
re-appointing external auditors;
re-electing audit committee members, and
transacting any other business as may be conducted at an AGM.

Record dates
In terms of section 59(1)(a) and (b) of the Companies Act, the board of directors of the company (board) has set the record date
for the purpose of determining which shareholders are entitled to:
•
receive notice of the AGM (being the date on which a shareholder must be registered in the company’s ordinary share
register in order to receive notice) as Friday, 31 August 2018; and
•
participate in and vote at the AGM (being the date on which an ordinary shareholder must be registered in the company’s
share register in order to participate in and vote at the AGM) on Friday, 26 October 2018.

Ordinary resolutions
Ordinary resolution number 1: Adoption of the annual financial statements
“Resolved that the audited annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018, including the reports of the directors,
auditors and the audit committee, be and are hereby adopted.”
This annual report is available on the Zambezi Platinum website www.northam.co.za/zambezi/ or can be obtained from the
company’s registered office on request.
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Ordinary resolution number 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3: Re-election of directors
“Resolved that Mr AZ Khumalo, who retires by rotation in terms of clause 25.22 of the company’s MOI and being eligible and
offering himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a director.”
“Resolved that Ms N Mazwai, who retires by rotation in terms of clause 25.22 of the company’s MOI and being eligible and
offering herself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a director.”
“Resolved that Mr KB Mosehla, who retires by rotation in terms of clause 25.22 of the company’s MOI and being eligible and
offering himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a director.”
Brief summaries of their curriculum vitae are set out on pages 14 to 15 of the annual report.
Ordinary resolution number 3: re-appointment of external auditors
“Resolved that Ernst & Young Inc. (with the new designated external audit partner being Mr Ebrahim Dhorat, who will replace Mr
Mike Herbst for the financial year ending 30 June 2019) be and is hereby re-appointed as the independent external auditors of
the company.”
In terms of section 92(1) of the Companies Act an individual may not serve as the auditor or designated auditor of a company
for more than 5 consecutive years. Although the current designated external audit partner, Mr Mike Herbst, has only been the
designated audit partner of the company for 4 years, the auditors believe it would be appropriate, considering the nature of the
company’s business, to have the same designated audit partner on both the Northam Platinum Limited and Zambezi Platinum
(RF) Limited accounts. Accordingly, the company proposes the appointment of Mr Ebrahim Dhorat, who is the current designated
auditor of Northam Platinum Limited, as the designated audit partner of the company, thereby replacing Mr Mike Herbst for the
financial year ending 30 June 2019.
The audit committee has evaluated the performance of Ernst & Young Inc. in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act and section 22 of the JSE listings requirements, and recommends their re-appointment as independent external auditors of
the company.
Ordinary resolution number 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 Re-election of the members of the audit committee
“Resolved that Mr GS Mseleku, being eligible and offering himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a member of
the audit committee.”
“Resolved that Ms N Mazwai being eligible and offering herself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a member of the
audit committee.”
“Resolved that Mr BB Nene, being eligible and offering himself for re-election, be and is hereby re-elected as a member of the
audit committee.”
Brief summaries of their curriculum vitae are set out on pages 14 to 15 of the annual report.

39

ZAMBEZI ANNUAL REPORT 2018

65

NOTICE OF
FOURTH
ANNUAL
GENERAL
MEETING
OF
NOTICE
OFTHE
THE
FOURTH
ANNUAL
GENERAL
MEETING
ORDINARY
SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE
(AGM) (AGM)
OF
ORDINARY
SHAREHOLDERS
OFCOMPANY
THE COMPANY
continued
Directors’ responsibility statement – The directors, whose names are given on pages 14 to 15 of the annual report, collectively
and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information pertaining to the resolutions set out above and certify
that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts that have been omitted which would make any statement in these
resolutions false or misleading, and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts have been made and that the notice
contains all information required by law and, where necessary, in terms of the debt listings requirements of the JSE.
To transact any other business as may be conducted at an AGM.

Approvals required for resolutions
The ordinary resolutions contained in this notice require the approval of more than fifty percent (50%) of the total votes cast on
the resolutions by ordinary shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM.

Proxies and identification
Shareholders entitled to attend and vote at the AGM are entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, participate in and vote at the
meeting in the place of the shareholder.
On a show of hands, every ordinary shareholder of the company present in person or represented by proxy shall have only one
(1) vote. On a poll, every ordinary shareholder of the company shall have one vote for every share held in the company by such
shareholder.
A proxy need not also be the shareholder.
A proxy form is attached for use by ordinary shareholders. To be effective, a proxy form must be executed in terms of
the company’s MOI and in accordance with the relevant instructions set out on the form, and must be lodged with Northam,
in its capacity as secretaries and technical and administrative advisers to the company (secretaries), e-mail:
trish.beale@norplats.co.za, not less than 48 hours (being Friday, 2 November 2018 at 09:30), for administrative purposes, or
handed to the chairman of the AGM before the time set down for the AGM. If required, additional proxy forms may be obtained
from the secretaries.
In terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act any person attending or participating in an AGM must provide satisfactory
identification and the person presiding at the meeting must be reasonably satisfied that the right of any person to participate in
and vote, whether as shareholder or as proxy for a shareholder, has been reasonably verified.
By order of the board.

Northam Platinum Limited
Secretaries
per P B Beale
Johannesburg
30 August 2018
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Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2014/106927/06)
JSE preference share code: ZPLP
ISIN code: ZAE000202552
(“Zambezi Platinum” or the “Company”)

FORM OF PROXY

To be completed by ordinary shareholders only

FORM OF PROXY
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 2014/106927/06)
JSE preference share code: ZPLP
ISIN code: ZAE000202552
(“Zambezi Platinum” or the “Company”)

For use in respect of the annual general meeting (AGM) of ordinary shareholders of the company, to be held at Glenhove
Conferencing, 52 Glenhove Road, Melrose Estate, Johannesburg, South Africa onTo
Tuesday,
6 Novemberby
2018
at 09:30.shareholders o
be completed
ordinary

For use in respect of the annual general meeting (AG
I/We (full names in block letters) ____________________________________________________
Conferencing, 52 Glenhove Road, Melrose Estate, Joha
Telephone (work) __________________ Telephone (home) _____________________
I/We (full names in block letters) ___________________
being the holder(s) of
ordinary shares in the company, appoint (see note 1):
Telephone (work) __________________ Telephone (ho
1._____________________________________________________________________________________ or failing him/her
being the holder(s) of

2. _____________________________________________________________________________________or failing him/her
1.___________________________________________

3. the chairman of the AGM, as my/our proxy to act on my/our behalf at the AGM which is to be held for the purpose of considering
and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the ordinary resolutions to 2.
be___________________________________________
proposed thereat and at any adjournment
thereof and to vote for or against or abstain from voting on the ordinary resolutions in respect of the Zambezi Platinum (RF)
3. the
chairman of
thenote
AGM,
Limited ordinary shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following
instructions
(see
2):as my/our proxy to act on my
and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification,
Resolutions
thereof and to vote
for orofagainst
Number
votes or abstain from votin
Limitedresolution
ordinary
shares
registered
in my/our
name/s,
in a
(one vote
per ordinary
share)
Ordinary
number
1 – adoption
of annual
financia

ended 30 June
For 2018 Against
Abstain
Ordinary resolution number 2.1 – re-election of Mr AZ Khu
Ordinary resolution number 1 – adoption of annual financial statements for the year
Ordinary resolution number 2.2 – re-election of Ms N Mazw
ended 30 June 2018
Ordinary resolution number 2.3 – re-election of Mr KB Mos
Ordinary resolution number 2.1 – re-election of Mr AZ Khumalo as a director
Ordinary resolution number 3 – re-appointment of Erns
Ordinary resolution number 2.2 – re-election of Ms N Mazwai as a director
independent external auditor of the company
Ordinary resolution number 2.3 – re-election of Mr KB Mosehla as a director
Ordinary resolution number 4.1 – re-election of Mr GS Mse
Ordinary resolution number 3 – re-appointment of Ernst & Young Inc. as audit
the committee
independent external auditor of the company
Ordinary resolution number 4.2 – re-election of Ms N Maz
Ordinary resolution number 4.1 – re-election of Mr GS Mseleku as a member ofaudit
the committee
audit committee
Ordinary resolution number 4.3 – re-election of Mr BB Ne
Ordinary resolution number 4.2 – re-election of Ms N Mazwai as a member ofaudit
the committee
audit committee
Ordinary resolution number 4.3 – re-election of Mr BB Nene as a member (Please
of the indicate instructions to proxy in the space provide
audit committee
exercisable.)
Resolutions

(Please indicate instructions to proxy in the space provided above by the insertion
therein of istheentitled
relevant
numberone
of votes
Each shareholder
to appoint
or more proxies
exercisable.)
and on a poll, vote in place of that shareholder at the AGM.
Each
a shareholder
of the company) to _______________2018
attend, speak,
41 shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (who need not beSigned
at _________________on
and on a poll, vote in place of that shareholder at the AGM.
Signed at _________________on _______________2018

Signature(s) __________________________ Capacity ____
41

Signature(s) __________________________ Capacity _______________________________
Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY
NOTES TO FORM OF PROXY
1.

A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the
space(s) provided, with or without deleting ‘the chairman of the AGM’. The person whose name stands first on the form
of proxy and who is present at the AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

2.

A shareholder should insert an ‘X’ in the relevant space according to how they wish their votes to be cast. However, if a
shareholder wishes to cast a vote in respect of a lesser number of Zambezi Platinum ordinary shares than they own in
the company, they should insert the number of Zambezi Platinum ordinary shares held in respect of which they wish to
vote. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the AGM
as he/she deems fit in respect of all the shareholders’ votes exercisable at the AGM. A shareholder is not obliged to use
all the votes exercisable by the shareholder, but the total of the votes cast and abstentions recorded may not exceed the
total number of the votes exercisable by the shareholder.

3.

The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the AGM
and speaking and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such member
wish to so do.

4.

The chairman of the AGM may reject or accept any form of proxy, which is completed and/or received, other than in
compliance with these notes.

5.

Any alteration to this form of proxy, other than the deletion of alternatives, must be signed, not initialled, by the
signatory/ies.

6.

Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity
(e.g. on behalf of a company, trust, pension fund, deceased estate, etc.) must be attached to this form of proxy, unless
previously recorded by the company or waived by the chairman of the AGM.

7.

A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, unless the relevant documents establishing his/her capacity are
produced or have been recorded by the company.

8.

Forms of proxy should be e-mailed to Trish Beale, company secretary of Northam, e-mail: trish.beale@norplats.co.za or
delivered at Northam’s Offices, Building 4, 1st Floor, Maxwell Office Park, Magwa Crescent West, Waterfall City, Jukskei
View, 2090, South Africa, so as to be received by no later than 09:30 on Friday, 2 November 2018 or be handed to the
chairman of the AGM before the appointed proxy exercises any of the relevant shareholder’s rights.
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SUMMARY OF RIGHTS CONTAINED
IN SECTION 58 OF THE COMPANIES ACT
In terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:

•	a shareholder of a company may, at any time and in accordance with the provisions of section 58 of the

Companies Act, appoint any individual (including an individual who is not a shareholder) as a proxy to
participate in, and speak and vote at, a shareholders’ meeting on behalf of such shareholder;

•	a proxy may delegate her or his authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any
restriction set out in the instrument appointing such proxy;

•	irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy, the appointment of a proxy is suspended at any
time and to the extent that the relevant shareholder chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any
of such shareholder’s rights as a shareholder;

•	any appointment by a shareholder of a proxy is revocable, unless the form of instrument used to appoint such
proxy states otherwise;

•	if an appointment of a proxy is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy appointment by (i) cancelling
it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy and (ii) delivering a copy of the revocation
instrument to the proxy and to the relevant company;

•	a proxy appointed by a shareholder is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of such

shareholder without direction, except to the extent that the relevant company’s memorandum of incorporation,
or the instrument appointing the proxy, provides otherwise; and

•	if the instrument appointing a proxy has been delivered by a shareholder to a company, then, for so long as that
appointment remains in effect, any notice that is required in terms of the Companies Act or such company’s
Memorandum of Incorporation to be delivered to a shareholder must be delivered by such company to:

•
•

the relevant shareholder; or
the proxy or proxies, if the relevant shareholder has: (i) directed such company to do so, in writing and
(ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by such company for doing so.
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ADMINISTRATION AND
INFORMATION
ADMINISTRATION
ANDCONTACT
CONTACT
INFORMATION
Zambezi Platinum (RF) Limited

Secretaries

Transfer secretaries

(Incorporated in the Republic of
South Africa)
(Registration number 2014/106927/06)
JSE preference share code: ZPLP
ISIN code: ZAE000202552

Northam Platinum Limited
Per PB Beale – company secretary
Building 4
1st Floor, Maxwell Office Park
Magwa Crescent West
Waterfall City
Jukskei View, 2090
South Africa

Computershare Investor Services
Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank, 2196
South Africa

Registered office
Building 4
1st Floor, Maxwell Office Park
Magwa Crescent West
Waterfall City
Jukskei View, 2090
South Africa
PO Box 412694
Craighall, 2024
South Africa
Telephone +27 11 759 6000
Facsimile +27 11 325 4795
Website
www.northam.co.za/zambezi/

PO Box 412694
Craighall, 2024
South Africa
e-mail:trish.beale@norplats.co.za
Bankers
Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
30 Baker Street
Rosebank
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa
PO Box 61029
Marshalltown, 2107
South Africa
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Telephone +27 11 370 5000
Facsimile +27 11 688 5238
Debt sponsor
One Capital
17 Fricker Road
Illovo, 2196
Johannesburg
South Africa
PO Box 784573
Sandton, 2146
South Africa

Auditors

Investor relations

Ernst and Young Inc.
102 Rivonia Road
Sandton, 2146
Johannesburg
South Africa

Russell & Associates
PO Box 1457
Parklands, 2121
South Africa

Private Bag X14
Sandton, 2146
South Africa
ANNUAL FINANCIA

PO Box 61051
Marshalltown, 2018
South Africa

Telephone +27 11 880 3924

www.northam.co.za/zambezi

EMPOWERING A NEW ERA IN MINING

REVIEWED INTERIM RESULTS
for the six months ended 31 December 2017

Scan the QR code with your smart device to download
the Zambezi annual report. Alternatively go to
www.northam.co.za/zambezi/

